INTRODUCTION 


Fifty to one-hundred years ago, land owners in West Virginia severed mineral interests from 

their rights to use and enjoy the surface. In doing so they contemplated that they might suffer 

minor inconveniences when and if the owners of the mineral rights choose to drill for gas or oil. 

Modem technology has evolved. Fracking and horizontal drilling techniques have allowed 

industry to drill deeper and wider, but the trucks, other equipment, resources, and burden from 

these operations has transformed the rural residential communities where the drilling occurs. 

This combined with careless and uncaring operations conducted all throughout the day and night 

has created a nuisance for the surface owners under any reasonable definition of the term. The 

substantial burden is one that was never contemplated when the interests were severed. This is a 

case brought by a number of surface owners with nuisance cases pending before the West 

Virginia Mass Litigation Panel ("'Panel") who believe that they should not be forced to bear these 

burdens without compensation. The Panel disagreed. These surface owners now seek justice and 

the vindication of their property rights in this Court. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 The Panel erred in holding that a mineral severance deed grants the mineral owner the 
right to extract natural gas using methods uncontemplated when the deeds were executed, 
that are not necessary to the extraction of the minerals, and that substantially burden the 
surface owner. 

2. 	 The Panel erred in concluding that an owner of mineral rights underlying a particular 
property has the right to create a nuisance on the surface of that tract to develop minerals 
underlying another property. 

3. 	 The Panel erred in failing to recognize that public policy supports allowing Appellants' 
nuisance claims so that Appellants should not be forced to disproportionately bear the 
burden ofAppellees' activities. 
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STATKMENT OF THE CASE 


I. Procedural History 

Appellants, herein are Deborah G. Andrews, Rodney and Katherine Ashcraft, Gregg D. 

Mc Williams, Mary Mikowski, and Robert and Loretta Siders. 1 Appellants filed their Complaint 

on October 11,2013, alleging claims for temporary nuisance and negligence against Antero 

Resources Corporation, LLC, Antero Resources Bluestone, LLC and Hall Drilling, LLC 

("Appellees"). 

Appellants claims were transferred to the West Virginia Mass Litigation Panel ("Panel") on 

November 25,2014 by order of this Court. Appellants' claims were designated as part of the first 

trial group to be resolved by the Panel. The claims ofover two-hundred Appellants remain 

pending before the Panel. A:29I8-3024. In spite of the fact that Appellees are just one of the 

major gas drilling operators in this State, the vast majority of the claims pending before the Panel 

involve claims against Appellees. Id. 

Following discovery, on January 15,2016, Appellees moved for summary judgment. 

A:OOO182. Appellants filed their response on January 29, 2016, and Appellees filed their reply 

on February 5, 2016. A:OOI402, 002375. The Panel Mass Litigation Panel entered an in initial 

order on April 18, 2016, but held its ruling in abeyance pending settlement discussions. 

A:002407. After settlement discussions were unsuccessful, the Mass Litigation Panel entered its 

final judgment granting Appellees' summary judgment on October 11,2016. A:002485. 

1 The Orders being appealed originally included the claims of Lindsey N. Feathers, April, Robert 
and M. Golden, Daniel and Sharon Kinney, Douglas and Catherine Mazer, Charles A. Mazer, 
Susan Maple (formerly Susan Mazer), the Estate of Charles T. Mazer and David S. Nutt. These 
parties, while originally joining in the notice ofappeal have moved to dismiss their appeals and 
consent to the fmality of the judgments entered against them. 
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Thereafter, Appellants filed a timely motion to alter or amend the judgment, which was denied 

on January 11,2017. A:002507, 002902. This appeal followed. 

II. Statement of Facts 

Appellee Antero Natural Resources Corporation (Antero) based in Denver, Colorado, is a 

relative newcomer to the United States oil and gas industry. Since its origins in 2002 as a 

privately held entity, Antero has specialized in the development of lmconventional resources, 

including shale gas and basin-centered tight gas through the utilization of horizontal drilling and 

hydraulic fracturing. 

In 2010, Antero intensified its exploration and drilling efforts in the Marcellus Shale by 

purchasing a privately held West Virginia based oil and gas producer called Bluestone Energy 

Partners (Bluestone). The purchase price was reported at $93 million in cash, the assumption of 

$25 million in subordinated debt and the issuance of 3.8 million units in the transaction. The 

acquisition included Bluestone's approximately 40,000 acres in the Marcellus shale with 93 

operated vertical wells, 3 horizontal wells, gathering pipelines and compression facilities. 

Prior to Antero acquiring Bluestone, Bluestone and Appellee Hall Drilling, LLC (Hall 

Drilling), had entered into a partnership around 2006 to work exclusively together as partners in 

the oil and gas industries. Hall Drilling managed and operated well sites and Bluestone worked 

with land and mineral rights owners to secure leases, including areas within Cherry Camp. The 

partnership between these two entities claimed to bring unprecedented knowledge and 

experience to every drilling project along with unique strengths to land and mineral rights 

owners. 

After Antero acquired Bluestone, Hall Drilling continued to work as an Antero subcontractor 

through a Master Service Agreement on the Cherry Camp well pads. Hall Drilling performed 
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work, along with approximately 400 Antero subcontractors on the 23 wells which were drilled 

and hydraulically fractured on the 6 well pads located within I mile of Appellants' residences. 

The drilling and hydraulic fracturing of the 23 Cherry Camp wells involved the 

transportation of thousands of workers, millions of gallons of water, truckloads of heavy 

equipment, toxic chemicals, piping and other supplies along the narrow rural roads in the Cherry 

Camp community. This unprecedented industrial activity also necessitated the construction of 

numerous pipelines to connect the pads to a newly built compressor station located on land 

utilized by Antero to develop and extract natural gas. 

Antero has been the subject of many Notices of Violations (''NOVs''), Cessation Orders 

("COs"), or Orders for Compliance ("OFCs") (collectively referred to as "Violations") issued by 

the WVDEP, US EPA, or the United States Army Corps of Engineers related to well pads at issue 

in this case. There have also been multiple spills on Antero's well pads at issue. A: 1640-1778. 

Appellants claim nuisance conditions related to Appellees' development, control, operation, 

and maintenance of seven structures which are generally within one mile or less from Appellants' 

properties at issue. A:872. 

1. 	 O. Rice Pad, which consists of the following horizontal natural gas wells along with 

associated structures: O. Rice South Unit IH-Permit No. 47-033-05437; Posey Unit 

IH- Permit No. 47-033-05507; and O. Rice North Unit IH- Permit No. 47-033-05533 

(A:2552-54); 

2. 	 Hill Pad, which consists of the following horizontal natural gas wells along with 

associated structures: Haymond NW Unit 2H-Pennit No. 47-033-05236; Haymond 

NW Unit 4H-Permit No. 47-033-05238; Haymond NW Unit 5H-Permit No. 47-033

05239; Bland Unit IH-Permit No. 47-033-05390; Bland Unit 2H-Perrnit No. 47-033
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05391; Koonse Unit IH-Permit No. 47-033-05674; and Koonse Unit 2H-Permit No. 

47-033-05675 (A:2555-61); 

3. 	 Mary Post Well Pad, which consists of the following horizontal natural gas wells along 

with associated structures: R. Haught South Unit IH-Permit No. 47-033-05453; and 

Mary Post Unit IH-PermitNo. 47-033-05375 (A:2562-63); 

4. 	 Matthey Well Pad, which consists of the following horizontal natural gas wells along 

with associated structures: Haymond Unit IH-Permit No. 47-033-05303; Haymond 

Unit 2H-Permit No. 47-033-05304; Tetrick Unit IH-Permit No. 47-033-05392; and 

Tetrick Unit 2H-Permit No. 47-033-05389 (A:2564-67); 

5. 	 Johnson Well Pad, which consists of the following horizontal natural gas wells along 

with associated structures: Bailey Unit 2H-Permit No. 47-033-05327; Morgan Unit IH

Permit No. 47-033-05243; Morgan Unit 2H-Permit No. 47-033-05244; and Morgan 

Unit 3H-Permit No. 47-033-05245 (A:2568-75); 

6. 	 Hustead Well Pad, which consists of the following horizontal natural gas wells along 

with associated structures: Hustead South Unit IH- Permit No. 47-033-05448; Hustead 

North Unit IH- Permit No. 47-033-05413; Huffman Unit IH- Permit No. 47-033

05731; and Riffee Unit IH- Permit No. 47-033-05730 (A:2571-74); and 

7. Salem Compressor Station. 

All told, there are twenty-four horizontal wells at issue in this case and a compressor station that 

processes and transports the gas from those wells. A:2576. 

A. 	Appellees' activities constituting a nuisance 

It would be next to impossible to fully describe the misery each Appellant has endured in the 

past few years as a result ofAppellees' activity. However, in essence, each Appellant has 
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experienced some or most of the following on a frequent basis as a result of Appellees' activities, 

each of which have substantially impaired Appellants' quality of life, use and enjoyment of 

property and cause significant annoyance, inconvenience, and discomfort: loud noises, concerns 

about well water safety, flooding due to diversion of water, loss of air quality, excessive dust, 

mud, bright lights, emissions diesel fumes, exhaust fumes, gas fumes and odors, excessive traffic 

delays/road blockages, rude, aggressive and generally dangerous drivers, speeding of very large 

trucks, vehicle damage due to poor road conditions, rude and interrogative flag persons, chemical 

spills in the streams and waters of Cherry Camp, vibrations/shaking, explosionslblasting, flaring, 

blow offs of condensate tanks, pipeline blowouts, an invasion of mostly out-of-state workers 

with little regard or respect for local residents, and trespassing. 

Words, however, are not adequate to describe the scale and the scope of the industrialization 

ofAppellants' neighborhoods. A video, submitted as part of the opposition to the summary 

judgment motions, A:0017779 can be viewed here. https://youtu.be/gbStRtlXltc 

(1) Noise, truck traffic, and odors 

In her deposition, Appellant Deborah Andrews testified extensively about her experience 

with noise, truck traffic, and odors resulting from Appellee Antero's activities in the area, and 

stated, 

[the gas activities have] affected my whole life, my quality of life ...one word is 
concentration. It's hard to concentrate when things are happening every day, especially in 
the flux of fracking and traffic and the flow past my properly. I live right on the road. It's 
like Grand Central Station in front of my house as trucks are going towards the Hill pad 
and towards the Matthey pad and, formerly, the Mazer pad, the [0 Rice] pad. So it's 
disruptive. 

A:1455. Ms. Andrews was often anxious to leave her farm because she lived in a congested area, 

and there was constant truck traffic and potential for accidents. A:1454. In fact, trucks have hit 

her gate numerous times. A:1458. She described being run off the road and the excessive speed 
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Appellees' trucks travel on the rural roads. A:1459. The truck traffic continues through the night, 

and she could hear the trucks using Jake brakes and driving too fast at night, which would wake 

her up. A:991, 1003. Deborah testified that her troubled sleeping began when Antero's activities 

began. A:1458. The noise was ''very disruptive" and "very annoying." A:1455. Her home 

intermittently vibrates from the trucks driving in front of her house. A:1460. Other witnesses 

confirmed this testimony regarding the noise caused by Appellees. See A:757, 765-768 (nonstop 

noise from trucks driving past and that the trucks have loud engines and the wheels clank on the 

road); A:1526 (noise is so loud that you could not have a conversation because the person you 

were talking to could not hear what you were saying); A:744-745. ( "flaring noise" can be heard 

for days at a time along with truck and brake noises from the Mary Post and Hustead well pads 

during day and night.); A:1468. (area was quiet enough to hear a pin drop before the drilling 

started and that now with the noise, vibrations, and truck traffic, "it's not quiet anymore."); 

A:1468 (constant but intermittent noise interrupted family'S sleep; "[i]t didn't used to be like 

that."); A:660-661, 669-671, 680 (could not sit on the porch on summer evenings because of 

noise from truck traffic and drilling); A:1523-1524. (noise prevented sleep; would retreat to the 

basement to avoid the noise). A:663 (unable to get out ofproperty because roads were blocked 

for 1-4 hours). 

Appellants also testified about constant dust and odors. See, e.g., A:1457 (has "been exposed 

to various odors, dust in the air which is carrying who knows what"); A: 1000. (routinely exposed 

to odors when diesel trucks are left running near her home and from other trucks, for long 

periods of time). Other witnesses confirmed Appellant's testimony A:603, 609. (noting repeated 

instances ofexposure to diesel fumes from trucks when they pass and when they sit and wait 

while roads are blocked); A:770 (smell of diesel fumes from the tractor trailers so bad and it 
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caused headaches); A:700-701 (truck tipped over in front of driveway smell lingered for weeks 

in addition to continued odor from truck traffic). 

(2) Dust contamination 

Appellant Mikowski testified that the truck traffic in front of her house, sometimes 13 of 

them at one time, created constant dust for 1-2 years causing the family to be unable to use their 

front porch. A:832-834. She thought they lived in a quiet, nice neighborhood with pastures all 

around with a few cars, then came a horrendous amount of traffic and clouds of dust in our field 

and around or house. A:1489-1489. The dust is very unpleasant, it's on the house, on the porch, 

having to clean it, the idea of having to breathe it is worrisome, "unpleasant all around." A:1491

1492. Other witnesses confirmed this testimony. A: 1483 ( "the constant dust that would hang in 

the air for hours") A: 1 0 19-1020 (car is constantly caked in mud and must be washed often); 

A:626 (dust settled on the house, windows, and porch furniture and that the house windows 

could not be kept open during the summer due to dust and fumes); A:1505-1506 (dust would get 

into her house and on furniture). 

(2) Light pollution 

D. Nutt alleging that the place was lit up like Mountaineer Field on a Saturday night even 

with the blinds closed. A:I050-1053. Other witnesses confirmed this testimony. A:995 (constant 

lights from the trucks as they travel up and down the hill shine into the house); A:600, 607-608 

(truck lights shine through bedroom windows which wake him up at night); A:760-763 (truck 

headlights would shine into her bedroom at night as the trucks drove by and would wake her up); 

A:578-579 (lights lit up his bedroom even with the blinds were shut); A:815-819 (lights from the 

pond and truck traffic were issues from 2009-2013). 
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(3) Vibrations 

D. Kinney testified are vibrations that cause his windows and kitchenware to rattle. A:1511

1512. The vibrations woke him up, shook his windows, everything in his home vibrated and the 

house was shaking for 24 hours per day for a while; It was like living on a volcano; there were 

still vibrations and window rattling occurring at the time of the deposition on March 3, 2015. 

A: 1511-1512. Many other witnesses confirmed the vibrations caused by Appellees' activities. 

Other Appellants testified concerning vibrations as well. A:994-995 (feels vibrations from the 

constant flow of truck traffic in front of her house); A:I077-1078 (vibrations kept family awake 

at night); A:604-605 (vibrations from the trucks would tum his touch lamps on or off and that he 

has not been able to use these lamps in two years as a result); A:739 (vibrations have caused 

sleep issues); A:I045-1046, 1049 (vibrations caused the windows to vibrate or the house to rattle 

and shake). 

(4) Confirming expert opinions 

Appellants retained two experts, Drs. Cheremisinoff and Ingraffea, to review, analyze, and 

bring their expertise to bear on the issues presented by Appellants' Complaint. In granting 

summary judgment, the Panel completely ignored Appellants' experts. 

Dr. Anthony R. Ingraffea, is a licensed professional engineer who holds a Ph.D. in Civil 

Engineering. Dr. Ingraffea has been a member of the faculty at Cornell University since 1979. 

Since 2009, his research has concentrated on the impacts of large-scale development of shale gas 

using a combination ofhigh-volume hydraulic fracturing, and directional drilling from clustered, 

multi-well pads. 

Dr. Ingraffea explained Appellees fracking in the Marcellus Shale, however, is different than 

traditional operations due to the impermeability of shale rock and the low permeability ofa shale 
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rock mass when, as was the case here, the drilling is accompanied by technologies of scale and 

by application of spatial intensity drive increased impacts [to human health and property]." 

A:1592-1593. 

Dr. Ingraffea explained that technologies of scale include, 

the use of 50 to 100 times more fracking fluid in a shale well than in a non-shale well. 
The average Marcellus shale gas/oil well consumes about 5 million gallons offrack fluid. 
More fracking fluid in turn requires more water, more proppant, more chemical additives 
and produces more fluid waste. These cause higher traffic demands on road/bridge 
infrastructure, require more and larger pumps, and create higher risk for transport and pad 
spills of dangerous substances, and larger waste disposal problems. Technologies of scale 
also include the use of much longer wells, with lateral length often exceeding vertical 
well depth. Longer wells require heavier drilling equipment, longer drilling periods, and 
cause more challenges for successful cement jobs. These create higher probability for 
unacceptable local air/noisellight pollution and contamination of underground sources of 
drinking water. 

A:1593. According to Dr. Ingraffea, each well in the Marcellus shale play drains about eighty 

surface acres and there are approximately eight wells per square mile-a concept known as 

spatial intensity. "The principal consequence of spatial intensity is that homeowners, farms, 

schools, and businesses are required to co-exist within a widespread, heavy industrial zone. They 

are literally embedded within a complex of pads, storage tanks, compressor stations, processing 

units and pipelines." A:1593. This industrialization within the community results in various 

negative consequences, which include contaminated air, increased ozone and smog, noise 

disturbances, light disturbances, and contaminated ground and surface water. A:1594. 

From his review of documents, visit to the Cherry Camp area, and discussion with Appellants 

in this action, Dr. Ingraffea opined, "[i]n summary, each family with whom I met recounted 

exactly the types of impacts to their health, to their peace and serenity, and to the continued use, 

enjoyment and value of their property described in the growing literature and to be expected 

from 'normal' shale gas operations." A:1597. 

10 



According to Appellants' retained expert, Dr. Nicholas CheremisinofI, Appellees' operations 

do not meet the standard ofcare and do not constitute "'normal" operations. Dr. Cheremisinoff 

holds a Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering and specializes in the safe handling and management of 

chemicals and hazardous materials with more than forty years of industry, business and applied 

research experience. A:3030. 

Setting the scene in his report, he explained, "[t]he Appellees began operations in late 2009 

and expanded significantly through 2013. Currently there are 23 hydraulically fractured natural 

gas wells distributed between 6 sites. These sites are within a relatively small geographical area 

in close proximity to residential homes. These wells transmit nearly 58 billion cubic feet of 

natural gas to the Crestwood Salem Compressor Station on an annual basis." A:3027. 

Dr. Cheremisinoff also noted that "[t]he Appellee is a sophisticated company that has 

understanding and expertise in natural gas production. It understands that natural gas production 

operations may create air pollution that requires control, yet it does not appear to have applied its 

knowledge and expertise to controlling these discharges." A:3027. 

Ultimately, Dr. Cheremisinoff offered the following opinions regarding Appellees' natural 

gas operations: 

• 	 Appellees do not rely on Leak Detection and Repair (LDAR) programs which are well 

recognized and widely used by industry to reduce fugitive VOC emissions.

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