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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

First, the Panel did not abuse its discretion by holding that Petitioners failed to show that 

they are entitled to relief under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 59( e). In their Motion to 

Amend, Petitioners argued that the Panel had made a clear error of law by granting summary 

judgment to Respondents and that an amendment of this judgment was necessary to prevent an 

obvious injustice. However, Petitioners failed to establish either a ''wholesale disregard, 

misapplication, or failure to recognize controlling precedent" (i.e., clear error) or an obvious, 

direct, and observable error (Le., manifest injustice) but rather presented two new arguments: (1) 

that Respondents exceeded the scope of Antero's contractual and property rights to the extent 

that Respondents used Petitioners' surface estates to develop minerals located beyond the 

boundaries of the leases encompassing Petitioners' surface estates; and (2) that the Panel's Final 

Order constituted a "taking" of Petitioners' properties. However, "Rule 59(e) is not a vehicle for 

a party to undo his/her own procedural failures or to advance arguments that could and should 

have been presented to the trial court prior to judgment." Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin J. Davis 

and Louis J. Palmer, Jr., Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure § 

22 Petitioners failed to address the standards of review in their brief. 
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59(e)[2], at 1285 (4th ed. 2012). Therefore, the Panel did not abuse its discretion by denying 

relief. 

Second, the Panel applied the correct legal standards respecting mineral owners' and 

surface owners' rights under West Virginia law and did not err in holding that Antero had an 

easement to use Petitioners' surface estates and that Antero had not exceeded the scope of that 

easement as a matter of law. See Syl. Pt. 5, Ouintain Dev.. LLC v. Columbia Nat. Res .. Inc., 210 

w. Va. 128, 556 S.E.2d 95 (2001). As lessor of the mineral estates that include the minerals 

beneath Petitioners' surface estates, Antero has the right to the reasonably necessary use of 

Petitioners' surface estates to develop its minerals. Adkins v. United Fuel Gas Co., 134 W. Va. 

719, 724-25, 61 S.E.2d 633, 636 (1950). West Virginia law is well-settled that the issue of 

reasonable surface use is a question of law for the court. Id. at 724, 61 S.E.2d at 636. As this 

Court recognized in Ouintain and as many other jurisdictions have also recognized, a party 

operating within a scope of its easement cannot be held liable for nuisance when exercising its 

rights pursuant to that easement. See Syl. Pt. 5,210 W. Va. 128,556 S.E.2d 95. In recognizing 

that the implied right to surface use is a type of easement and applying Syllabus Point 5 of 

Ouintain, the Panel did not err in concluding that Antero has an implied easement to use 

Petitioners' surface estates to the extent reasonably necessary to develop its minerals. 

Furthermore, the Panel did not err in holding that Antero's use of Petitioners' surface 

estates did not exceed that which is reasonable and necessary to develop its pool of Marcellus 

Shale minerals. The primary purpose of mineral severance deeds and mineral leases is the 

efficient production of minerals in paying quantities and instruments of conveyance must be 

applied in that context. Absent agreements to the contrary, parties to such contracts contemplate 
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modifications of their contractual relationships by the development of new methods in 

technology. Bassell v. W. Va. Cent. Gas Co., 86 W. Va. 198, 103 S.E. 116, 117 (1920). 

The Marcellus Shale is developed through the use of pooling,23 hydraulic fracturing, and 

horizontal drilling. Under West Virginia law, use of new technology for mineral extraction, or 

another permissive use of another person's land, is actionable only where the impact is 

"materially different from that which the owner contemplated at the time of granting the right" 

such that the use "virtually destroy[s]" the surface or is "totally incompatible with the rights of 

the surface owner." Quintain, 210 W. Va. at 133, 556 S.E.2d at 100 (materially different); 

Buffalo Mining Co. v. Martin. 165 W. Va. 10, 15-16, 267 S.E.2d 721, 724-25 (1980) (virtual 

destruction and total incompatibility). Likewise, other jurisdictions have already recognized that 

hydraulic fracturing is an accepted technological advancement that is reasonably necessary to 

develop mineral leaseholds, without reterence to the date of the underlying instruments. 

Additionally, it is the majority rule among the states that a mineral lessor may use the surface 

estate overlying adjacent or adjoining tracts when developing the minerals as a pool. 

Antero's methods, including pooling, horizontal drilling, and hydraulic fracturing, do not 

cause a "materially different" impact than that which would have been within the contemplation 

of the parties at the time the minerals beneath Petitioners' properties were severed or acquired. 

At that time, the parties would have contemplated the drilling of oil and gas wells, potentially 

including multiple wells and well pads on the same parcel, creating an interference with the 

surface owner's use of land that is much greater than any interference caused by horizontal 

drilling. That the use is not materially different is especially true where, as here, the well pads are 

23 This Court recently acknowledged that the terms "pooling" and "unitization" are often used 
interchangeably although they have different technical meanings in oil and gas operations. See Gastar 
ExpJ.. Inc. v. Contraguerro, _ W. Va. _,800 S.E.2d 891,893 n.1 (2017). Consistent with this Court's 
decision to use "pooling," Antero uses the term pooling throughout this brief. See id. 
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not situated on Petitioners' properties. Therefore, any argument that the interference caused by 

Antero "materially differs" from that which was contemplated by the parties at the time of 

conveyance is illogical. Furthermore, Petitioners admit that they have no claims for property 

damage and that all of Antero's activities were within its implied rights necessary to 

development. Petitioners' expert witnesses offered no testimony that Antero exceeded the scope 

of its easement by impacting Petitioners' surface estates beyond what is reasonable and 

necessary to develop its mineral leasehold. 

Finally, Petitioners essentially request that this Court abrogate Antero's private property 

rights, and the rights of mineral and royalty owners, on the basis of a purported public policy 

argument for the need to protect surface owners' rights but fail to identify any public policy 

supporting their position. Rather, the very law that Petitioners cite provides strong protections for 

surface owners while clearly supporting West Virginia's public policy that mineral development 

is beneficial to the State and national security and should be encouraged. In contrast to 

Petitioners' assertion, neither the facts presented24 nor West Virginia law require Petitioners to 

"disproportionately bear" the burden of Antero's activities. Neither does the Final Order 

"immunize" Respondents from nuisance liability such that Petitioners are deprived of a common 

law remedy. Rather, the common law addresses Petitioners' claims and has simply found them 

wanting. 

24 There are no well pads on Petitioners' properties and, thus, no direct impact upon their 
properties. Petitioners are not required to disproportionately bear the burden of the activities but are rather 
receiving a benefit because the minerals beneath their surface estates are being developed without a well 
pad being constructed on their surface estates. 
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V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

In accordance with West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a), oral argument is 

not necessary on this appeal. The dispositive issue or issues have been authoritatively decided, 

and oral argument would not significantly aid the decisional process. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 THE PANEL DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY HOLDING THAT PETITIONERS FAILED TO 
SHOW THEY ARE ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER RULE 59 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA RULES 
OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.15 

Petitioners have failed to establish that the Panel made a "clear error of law,,26 or needed 

to act "to prevent an obvious injustice" such that Petitioners are entitled to relief.27 See W. Va. 

R. Civ. P. 59(e); Syl. Pt. 2, Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny. Moe & Jack, 228 W. Va. 48, 56-57, 717 

S.E.2d 235, 243~4 (2011) (requiring the party seeking relief to establish (1) "an intervening 

change in controlling law"; (2) "new evidence not previously available [that has] come to light"; 

(3) "a clear error ofJaw"; or (4) an obvious injustice).28 A Rule 59(e) motion is not "appropriate 

25 Petitioners erroneously filed their Motion to Amend pursuant to Rule 52. The Panel treated the 
motion as a Rule 59(e) motion. A.R. at 002902-002911. 

26 An error of law is "the wholesale disregard, misapplication, or failure to recognize controlling 
precedent. This is a high standard that is not demonstrated by the disappointment of the losing party." 
Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin J. Davis and Louis J. Palmer, Jr., Litigation Handbook on West Virginia 
Rules of Civil Procedure § 59(e)[2], at 131 (4th ed. Supp. 2017). 

27 An "obvious injustice" is "[a] direct, obvious, and observable error in a trial court" that is 
"apparent to the point of being indisputable." Tri-State Truck Ins.. Ltd. v. First Nat'l Bank of Wamego, 
No. 09-4 I 58-SAC, 2011 WL 4691933, at *3 (D. Kan. Oct. 6, 20 I 1 ) (citations omitted). Examples include 
"accepting a defendant's gUilty plea that is involuntary or is based on a plea agreement that the 
prosecution has rescinded,' and dismissing a pro se prisoner's civil rights case based upon procedural 
errors outside of his control." Id. (citations omitted). Serious misconduct of counsel may also justify 
relief. See 11 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2810.1 (3d ed. 
2002). Petitioners failed to identify any such "direct, obvious, and observable" error. 

28 In their Motion to Amend, Petitioners summarily claimed that their Motion should be granted 
to "remedy a clear error of law" or "prevent obvious injustice" without explanation as how either element 
was satisfied. Petitioners failed to address the remaining two elements (an intervening change in 
controlling law or new evidence not previously available). See A.R. at 002760-002761. 
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for presenting new legal arguments, factual contentions, or claims that could have previously 

been argued." Id. at 56, 717 S.E.2d at 243. 

Petitioners argued for the first time in their Motion to Amend that Respondents exceeded 

the scope of Antero's contractual and property rights to the extent that Respondents used 

Petitioners' surface estates to develop minerals located beyond the boundaries of the leases 

encompassing Petitioners' surface estates. See A.R. at 002510-002528; 002761-002771.29 

Therefore, the Panel did not abuse its discretion when it denied Petitioners' motion on the 

grounds that Petitioners presented an argument based on evidence that had been readily available 

prior to dispositive briefing and was therefore inappropriate to be raised for the first time in a 

Rule 59(e) motion. A.R. at 002910. 

B. 	 THE PANEL ApPLIED THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARDS RESPECTING MINERAL 
OWNERS' AND SURFACE OWNERS' RIGHTS UNDER WEST VIRGINIA LAW. 

I. 	 The Panel Correctly Held That Antero Holds An Easement To Use 
Petitioners' Surface Estates To The Extent Reasonable And Necessary To 
Develop Its Mineral Leasehold. 

Whether express or implied, a mineral lessee has a right of reasonable use of the surface 

estate to develop its mineral estate. It is well-recognized that where a severance deed is silent 

upon express surface use rights that the easement is granted via the implied right to use the 

surface to the extent that is reasonable and necessary to develop the mineral leasehold. As this 

Court recognized in Quintain, a holder of an easement - any easement - cannot be liable for a 

nuisance unless the holder has exceeded the scope of that easement. Syl. Pt. 5, 2 IO W. Va. at 

136, 556 S.E.2d at 103. The Panel correctly applied these legal principles in holding that 

29 Petitioners also presented the inapposite argument that the Panel's order was ''tantamount to 
ratifying a taking of [Petitioners'] private property for private use," A.R. at 002771, relying upon 
Mountain Valley Pipeline. LLC v. McCurdy. 238 W. Va. 200, 793 S.E.2d 850 (2016). Petitioners appear 
to concede that neither eminent domain nor the public use requirement is at issue in this litigation. Pet'rs' 
Br.32. 
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Antero's implied rights pursuant to its mineral leases and the underlying severance deeds grant it 

an easement to reasonable and necessary use of Petitioners' surface estates to develop its mineral 

leasehold. 

Petitioners argue for the first time30 that Ouintain applies only to express easements and 

that its application to Antero's implied rights is inconsistent with West Virginia law regarding 

surface owners' rights. See Pet'rs' Br. 19-20. Both arguments fail. 

a. Ouintain Is Not Limited To Express Easements. 

Contrary to Petitioners' assertion, Ouintain is not limited in application to express 

easements. In Ouintain, this Court noted numerous other jurisdictions that had applied this 

widely recognized rule31 to various types of easements.32 See 210 W. Va. at 136, 556 S.E.2d at 

103 (citing M & D. Inc. v. McConkey, 573 N.W.2d 281 (Mich. App. (997), vacated by court 

30 Petitioners conceded below that Antero has an easement and cannot be liable for nuisance for 
its use of Petitioners' surface estate to develop the Bland and Moran leaseholds to the extent that the 
development is for the minerals contained in each leasehold. A.R. at 002510. 

31 The Ouintain rule is widely recognized and accepted by legal scholars and other courts. See 
David E. Pierce, Oil and Gas Easements, 33 Energy & Min. L. Inst. 9 at 318, 324 (2012), 
http://www.emlf.orglclientuploadsldirectory/whitepaper/pierce _12.pdf (noting that "[t]he classic implied 
easement arises when the parties to a conveyance create an isolated property interest, such as a mineral 
interest, and the conveyance document is silent regarding access to the interest" and that this easement is 
known as an "easement by necessity" and its purpose is ''to permit use of the burdened land for the 
efficient development of the oil and gas estate"). See also Drayton v. City of Lincoln City, 260 P.3d 642, 
646 (Or. Ct. App. 20 II) (holding that adjoining landowner's nuisance claim was barred by virtue of 
prescriptive easement); Edgcomb v. Lower Valley Power & Light. Inc., 922 P.2d 850, 857--61 (Wyo. 
1996) (holding that the utility could not be liable for nuisance based on magnetic field transmissions 
because the utility had a valid easement for electric transmission and telephone purposes, the scope of the 
easement had not been exceeded, and the uses for which the easement was being put were not 
unreasonable, unwarranted, or unlawful); Pa. R. Co. v. Kearns, 48 N.E.2d 1012, 1016 (Ohio Ct. App. 
1943) ("An easement may permit an activity on land which otherwise would be a nuisance in relation to 
other land."). 

32 See Ouintain, 210 W. Va. at 135,556 S.E.2d at 102 (quoting Bormann v. Bd. of Supervisors, 
584 N. W.2d 309, 3 t5 (Iowa t998) (recognizing for over one hundred years that "the right to maintain a 
nuisance is an easement") (emphasis applied in Ouintain); Black's Law Dictionary 527 (7th ed. 1999) 
(defining an easement as "[a]n interest in land owned by another person, consisting in the right to use or 
control the land, or an area above or below it, for a specific limited purpose .... The primary recognized 
easements are ... (6) a right to do some act that would otherwise amount to a nuisance ....") 
(emphasis applied in Ouintain». 
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order and reinstated in part by M & D, Inc. v. W.B. McConkev. 585 N.W.2d 33 (Mich. App. 

1998) (prescriptive easement); and Westchester Assocs .. Inc. v. Bos. Edison Co., 712 N.E.2d 

1145, 1147 (Mass. App. Ct. 1999) (eminent domain». The plain language of Syllabus Point 5 

makes clear that Ouintain applies to all easements: 

The actions or inactions of the owner of an easement, which 
otherwise meet the legal definition of a nuisance, do not create a 
nuisance as to the estate servient to the easement unless those 
actions or inactions exceed the scope of the easement. 

210 W. Va. 128, 556 S.E.2d 95 (emphasis added). Furthermore, this Court has recognized that 

easements can be created by implication. See Buffalo Mining. 165 W. Va. at 14-19, 267 S.E.2d 

at 723-26 (holding that an 1890 coal severance deed granted the implied right to permit a surface 

easement for an electric line). Indeed, Ouintain has been applied to implied easements arising 

from severance deeds and prescriptive easements, and courts have granted summary judgment to 

defendants on claims of private nuisance based on this application.33 

Therefore, the Panel properly applied Ouintain and concluded that Antero's express and 

implied rights created an easement for it to use Petitioners' properties to the extent reasonable 

and necessary to develop its minerals. To now narrow Ouintain's holding to express easements

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